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BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF OREGON 

 

QWEST CORPORATION,  

Complainant, 

v. 

Level 3 Communications, LLC, 

Defendant.    

 
DOCKET IC ____ 
 
QWEST CORPORATION’S 
COMPLAINT FOR ENFORCEMENT 
OF INTERCONNECTION 
AGREEMENT   

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This complaint presents an important issue to this Commission.  In fact, it is one 

that the Commission is familiar with and has previously addressed in docket UM 1058 and Order 

No. 04-504.  Indeed, for the reasons set forth below, Qwest will show that Level 3 is in violation 

of that order in the manner in which it is operating in Oregon today. 

2. When a person places a long distance call to a computer, or Internet Service 

Provider (“ISP”) server (“ISP Server”),1 may the carrier connecting the call to the computer treat 

the call according to the ISP Remand Order for compensation and access charge purposes?2  The 

answer is clearly no.  However, Level 3 claims that a call to an ISP Server, at least when the ISP 

Server is used to connect to the Internet, is, according to the ISP Remand Order, to be treated 

                                                 
1 Level 3 has used the term “ISP equipment,” which is functionally the same thing as a computer that 

connects to the Internet.  The more common term is “ISP Server,” which will be used through the remainder of this 
complaint. 

2 See In the Matter of Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions in the Telecommunications Act of 
1996, Intercarrier Compensation for ISP-Bound Traffic, Order on Remand and Report and Order, 16 FCC Rcd 9151, 
9163-81 ¶¶ 23-65, 9186-90, ¶¶ 77-84 (2001), remanded sub nom, WorldCom, Inc. v. FCC, 288 F.3d 429 (D.C. Cir. 
2002), reh’g en banc denied (D.C. Cir. Sept. 24, 2002), cert. denied, 538 U.S. 1012 (May 5, 2003). 
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under the process described in that Order, no matter where the ISP Server is located.  This Level 3 

position, as well as its billing to Qwest for such calls, necessitates this complaint by Qwest.3 

3. Level 3’s position is that the called ISP Server could be located in San Francisco, 

Seattle, or Honolulu, and all calls to the ISP Server (and through the ISP Server to the Internet) 

would be treated for compensation purposes precisely in the same fashion as if both the caller and 

the ISP Server were located in Portland.  This is clearly not the law, and the Federal 

Communications Commission (“FCC”) has made it clear for more than 20 years that a call to a 

computer (including a call to an ISP Server used to provide information or enhanced services) is to 

be rated based on the location of the ISP Server itself, and not the location of any further end point 

with which the ISP Server may communicate, or to which the computer may direct the call.  Level 

3’s argument is that the FCC somehow accidentally reversed this consistent precedent, and thus that 

the FCC has ruled that all calls to ISP Servers are to be treated according to the scheme in the ISP 

Remand Order, no matter where the ISP Server is located.   

4. This issue is important to Level 3 because, if its position were to be accepted, Level 3 

would be able to reap significant financial advantages at the expense of Qwest and the public.  Not 

only would customers calling Level 3’s ISP avoid paying toll charges for such calls, but Qwest also 

would be required (after an amendment to the parties’ interconnection agreement) to compensate 

Level 3 for “terminating” the calls at the FCC’s ISP Remand Order rate of $0.0007 per minute. 

5. Level 3’s position is directly contrary to FCC precedent, which requires that a 

computer (such as an ISP Server) be treated exactly the same as other end-user customers in 

                                                 
3 Qwest notes that Level 3 has filed a complaint before the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission claiming 

that Qwest has refused to pay intercarrier compensation for such traffic, and has advised of its intent to file a 
complaint before the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission.  Qwest is currently defending the 
Minnesota complaint, and has asserted counter-claims similar to the affirmative claims in this complaint.   
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determining whether a call to the computer is treated as a toll call or a local call.  This is the basis 

for the so-called “ESP Exemption,” which requires exactly that. 

6. The federal ESP Exemption prevents a LEC from charging switched access charges 

for a call made to a local computer on the basis that the computer ultimately directs the call to an 

end point (e.g., another computer) or to another station located in another state.  This is part of the 

same rule that held that calls to or from local Private Branch Exchanges (“PBXs”) would not be 

required to pay switched access charges, even if the calls were connected to another line and 

ultimately transferred to a distant location.  The ESP Exemption never said, explicitly or 

implicitly, that calls to or from computers (or PBXs) were “local calls,” no matter where the 

computers (or PBXs) were located.  Level 3, however, attempts to argue that the FCC, without 

analysis or even intent, has accidentally changed the entire landscape of access charges, and thus 

issued a blanket exemption for all calls to and from all computers, no matter where located (as 

long as they send the call to the Internet).  Nothing supports Level 3’s position that the FCC has 

made such a major policy shift.   

7. Level 3 also ignores Oregon statutes and this Commission’s rulings in the virtual 

NXX number (“VNXX”) proceeding (docket UM 1058) and in the AT&T arbitration proceeding 

(docket ARB 527) dealing with VNXX assignment, as well as a recent federal court decision on 

this issue.  As this Commission knows, VNXX is a vehicle by which a carrier obtains a number for 

one local calling area, and assigns that number to serve a customer physically located in another 

geographic area.  In the UM 1058 proceeding, however, this Commission determined in Order No. 

04-504 that a CLEC engaging in VNXX traffic would be violating two of the standard conditions 

in their certificates of authority.  This Commission also ruled in Order No. 04-272 in docket ARB 

527 (the AT&T/Qwest arbitration) that the definition of local exchange service would remain 

traffic that originates and terminates within the same Commission-determined local calling area 
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(thus rejecting AT&T’s request that the Commission exempt VNXX traffic from these 

requirements).4  Finally, a federal court in Oregon recently concluded that the Commission’s 

previous decision in Order No. 04-504 ruled that VNXX traffic is, by definition, not “local 

traffic,” by expressly agreeing with Qwest that no reciprocal compensation was due for VNXX 

traffic because VNXX traffic is not local traffic.  Accordingly, a CLEC’s VNXX offerings that do 

not provide for toll payments, or an appropriate substitute, are improper under Oregon law.   

8. Level 3 also simply ignores the plain language of the parties’ interconnection 

agreement (“ICA”) regarding the types of traffic that the parties have agreed to exchange.  The 

traffic types that the parties have agreed to exchange over the local interconnection trunks and 

through the ICA Single Point of Presence (“SPOP”) amendment is very specifically delineated in 

the ICA.  As is discussed below, the traffic that Qwest complains about does not match the traffic 

types that the parties agreed to exchange under the ICA.  Due to Level 3’s purposeful misuse and 

improper assignment of telephone numbers, the traffic that Level 3 expects Qwest to exchange 

does not match any of the specifically defined traffic types, and therefore, is not traffic that the 

parties have agreed to exchange under the ICA.  The solution to this dispute is quite simple; if 

Level 3 assigns telephone numbers based on the actual physical location of the ISP Server, then 

the traffic will be properly routed consistent with the definitions in the ICA.   

9. In sum, this complaint represents an important issue from a policy and financial 

perspective.  Ultimately, this Commission should rule in favor of Qwest and thus determine that 

Level 3 is not entitled to unilaterally change the ICA.  The Commission should further rule that 

Level 3 is not entitled to fundamentally shift the toll compensation structure in this state as a 

matter of federal and state law, as well as a matter of sound policy. 

                                                 
4 Level 3’s interconnection agreement has the same definition of “exchange service” language as that which 

is in the AT&T interconnection agreement.  (See e.g., fn. 17, infra.) 
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JURISDICTION 

10. Both Qwest and Level 3 are authorized to provide local exchange service in the 

state of Oregon pursuant to certificates of authority issued by this Commission. 

11. Pursuant to section 252 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“the Act”), in 

October 2001, Qwest and Level 3 entered into an arbitrated ICA.  This ICA was based on the 

Commission’s Order No. 01-809 on September 13, 2001 in docket ARB 332, in which the 

Commission adopted the Arbitrator’s Decision of August 15, 2001.  The ICA was filed with the 

Commission on or about October 19, 2001, and approved by Commission Order No. 01-968 on 

November 16, 2001.5  True and correct copies of the relevant portions of the ICA are attached as 

Exhibit A to the Complaint and are incorporated herein. 

12. State commissions have the authority to interpret and enforce agreements they 

approve when post-approval disputes arise.  Michigan Bell Tel. Co. v. Strand, 305 F.3d 580, 583 

(6th Cir. 2002); Michigan Bell Tel. Co. v. Climax Tel. Co., 202 F.3d 862, 968 (6th Cir. 2000); cert. 

denied, 531 U.S. 816.  This Commission is also authorized to resolve complaints pursuant to ORS 

756.500 and to enforce ICAs that it approves pursuant to OAR 860-016-0050.  Moreover, in Order 

No. 04-504 in docket UM 1058, the Commission also ruled that “the most appropriate means for 

dealing with allegations relating to such activity would be in the context of a complaint or a 

petition for arbitration.”  Order No. 04-504, p. 5.  (Emphasis added.) 

13. Accordingly, the Commission has jurisdiction to interpret the terms of the ICA as 

alleged herein. 

 

 

                                                 
5 Level 3 subsequently filed a federal court action with the United States District Court for the District of 

Oregon, Case No. CV01-1818, essentially appealing Order Nos. 01-809 and 01-968.  However, the federal court 
affirmed the Commission’s orders. 
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PARTIES 

14. Qwest is an incumbent local exchange carrier (“ILEC”) and telecommunications utility 

as defined in ORS 759.005(1)(a), with its principal place of business in Colorado.  Qwest is authorized 

to provide local exchange service, exchange access and intrastate interexchange service in Oregon.  

Correspondence regarding this Complaint should be sent to Qwest at the following addresses: 

Alex M. Duarte, OSB No. 02045 
Qwest  
421 SW Oak Street, Suite 810 
Portland, Oregon 97204 
(503) 242-5623 
(503) 242-8589 (facsimile) 
Alex.Duarte@qwest.com  
Jeffrey T. Nodland  
Qwest  
1801 California Street, 10th Floor 
Denver, Colorado 80202 
(303) 383-6657 
(303) 295-6973 (facsimile) 
Jeff.Nodland@qwest.com    

15. Level 3 is a competitive local exchange carrier (“CLEC” or “competitive provider”), 

with its principal place of business in Colorado.  On information and belief, Qwest alleges that 

Level 3 is certified to provide local exchange service, exchange access and intrastate interexchange 

service in Oregon.  Pursuant to the notice provision of its interconnection agreement with Qwest, 

section 5.22, correspondence regarding this Complaint should be sent to Level 3 at the following 

addresses: 

Level 3 Communications, Inc. 
Director- Interconnection Services  
Attention:  Roger DuCloo   
1025 Eldorado Blvd. 
Broomfield, CO 80021 
 
Level 3 Communications, Inc. 
Attention:  Erik Cecil, Regulatory Counsel  
 and Rick Thayer, Director- Interconnection and Public Policy   
1025 Eldorado Blvd. 
Broomfield, CO 80021 
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GOOD FAITH ATTEMPT TO RESOLVE PURSUANT TO OAR 860-016-0050(3)(a) 

16. Pursuant to OAR 860-016-0050(3)(a), Qwest has conferred with Level 3 in good 

faith in an attempt to resolve these disputes.  Despite Qwest’s good faith attempts to resolve these 

disputes, the parties have failed to resolve them, thus necessitating this Complaint. 

17. Specifically, Qwest notified Level 3 in a January 27, 2005 letter that it was formally 

disputing the VNXX traffic that Level 3 has charged to Qwest.  Qwest further advised Level 3 of 

ways that Level 3 could remedy the issues through proper renumbering of the terminating numbers 

or rerouting the traffic over the appropriate Feature Group D trunks.  Since that January 27th 

notification, and pursuant to the ICA’s dispute resolution provision, Qwest and Level 3 have held 

several conference calls and meetings between their respective representatives, up to and including 

at the Vice President level, in attempts to resolve these disputes.  Although each company has 

suggested various alternatives to resolve these disputes, they have not been able to reach agreement, 

and thus Qwest is compelled to seek relief through the appropriate regulatory intervention.   

WRITTEN NOTICE PURSUANT TO OAR 860-016-0050(3)(b) 

18. Pursuant to OAR 860-016-0050(3)(b), Qwest has given Level 3 10-days written 

notice of Qwest’s intent to file this complaint for enforcement of the parties’ interconnection 

agreement.  (A true and correct copy of Qwest’s May 27, 2005 notice letter is attached hereto as 

Exhibit B to the Complaint and is incorporated herein.) 

STATEMENT OF PERTINENT FACTS 

Background  

19. This dispute arises because Level 3 has engaged in a practice of providing a service 

to its ISP customers which enables the ISP’s customers (who are also Qwest local telephone 

customers) who are located in a particular local calling area to dial a local number to reach the 
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ISP.  The ISP, however, is actually located in a different local calling area, or possibly even a 

different state.  Level 3 does this by assigning telephone numbers to Level 3 ISP customers based 

on where the call originates, thus allowing the calls to terminate in a different local calling area.  

Level 3 then knowingly misuses Qwest’s Local Interconnection Service (“LIS”) so that Qwest will 

believe it is obligated to route and transport calls to Level 3 disguised as “local” calls (or, as Level 

3 would try to define them, “ISP-Bound” calls) when, in fact, the calls should be treated as toll 

calls.  While Level 3 seeks this treatment of ISP-bound calls, other carriers seek the same 

treatment of intercity calls not bound for the Internet.  Fe, some carriers’ VNXX calls might be 

bound for an inbound telemarketing center, a “help desk,” or a voice messaging system.   

20. This practice has widespread and significant impact on the entire access 

compensation system established in Oregon and elsewhere.  Level 3 seeks to benefit not once, but 

twice.  Level 3 not only wants to allow its ISP customer and its ISP’s customers to avoid paying 

toll charges for long distance calls, but it also seeks to force ILECs like Qwest to pay Level 3 for 

the privilege of routing and transporting toll calls.  Such an approach leads to severe financial 

repercussions for the industry, erodes the financial support that originating access provides to local 

rates, and further distorts the compensation scheme underlying the public switched telephone 

network including universal service funding. 

21. Level 3’s practices raise a wide variety of policy issues.  Those issues are being 

dealt with and litigated vociferously before the FCC and the courts.  Nonetheless, while those 

proceedings are pending, Level 3 seeks to sidestep them by charging Qwest without satisfying the 

change of law process provided for in the ICA.  Level 3’s effort is not supported by state law, 

federal law or the parties’ ICA, and thus the Commission should order that Level 3 cease such 

practices while the issues are sorted out.   
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22. Because of the status of the law, Qwest has refused both to pay Level 3’s inaccurate 

intercarrier compensation bills for VNXX traffic and to pay Level 3’s improper bills sent prior to 

the parties’ ICA being amended under the change in law provisions of the agreement.  Qwest has, 

nevertheless, offered Level 3 an ICA amendment that is consistent with recent FCC, Commission 

and court decisions.  Level 3, however, has refused to negotiate such an amendment. 

23. Thus, the primary issue raised here is whether or not a call bound for the ISP Server 

should be subject to the FCC’s ISP Remand Order rate of $0.0007 per minute rate, regardless of 

the location of the person placing the call compared to the location of the ISP Server.  The FCC 

has addressed this issue.  This Commission has also recently issued decisions regarding the 

definition of a local call.   

Treatment of Calls Bound for ISPs  

Federal authority  

24. The FCC has a long history of determining the appropriate treatment of traffic bound 

for “enhanced service providers” or “ESPs” (i.e., providers of communications that modify content).  

In 1983, the FCC issued an order creating the so-called “ESP Exemption.”6  The ESP Exemption 

was not really an exemption, but rather a decision, based on a number of policy considerations, that 

enhanced service providers were entitled to connect their points of presence through tariffed local 

retail services (rather than through tariffed feature group access services that interexchange carriers 

were required to purchase), even though the facilities were really being used for services classified 

as interstate.7  The FCC assigned the same status to private telecommunications networks or 

                                                 
6 See In the Matter of MTS and WATS Market Structure, Third Report and Order, 93 FCC 2d 241, 254-255, 

¶ 9 and fn. 15, 320, ¶ 269 (1983); modified on recon., 97 FCC 2d 682 (1984) (“First Order on Reconsideration”), 
further modified on recon., 97 FCC 2d 834 (1984) (“Order on Further Reconsideration”), aff’d in principal part and 
remanded in part sub nom., NARUC v. FCC, 737 F.2d 1095 (D.C. Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1227 (1985).  

7 See, e.g., In the Matter of Access Charge Reform, Price Cap Performance Review for Local Exchange 
Carriers, Transport Rate Structure and Pricing, End User Common Line Charges, First Report and Order, 12 FCC 
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systems (e.g., PBX systems) that accessed local exchange systems for connecting interstate calls.8  

In other words, the FCC treated the point of presence of an enhanced service provider as if that 

point of presence were the location of a retail customer. 

25. The FCC applied the same approach under the 1996 Telecommunications Act when 

it dealt with traffic routed to the Internet.  The FCC determined that Internet Service Providers 

(ISPs), the heirs to the old “enhanced service provider” designation, were entitled to the same 

treatment for compensation purposes.  Thus, when an ISP is served by a CLEC, the same analysis 

applies under section 251(g) of the Act.  The ISP Server is treated as an end-user location for the 

purposes of compensation, but the call does not terminate at this location.  The ISP may purchase 

services from its telecommunications provider for the purpose of getting its incoming calls to the 

ISP’s Server.  Compensation between the ISP’s provider (Level 3) and the LEC (Qwest) that serves 

the customer that originated the call is based on the geographic location of the two ends of the call.9 

26. In late 2003, Level 3 brought a petition before the FCC that requested forbearance 

from the FCC’s ESP Exemption and its application to calls bound for the Internet.10  While that 

petition was pending, the FCC issued its Notice of Further Proposed Rulemaking in its Intercarrier 

Compensation docket to consider these issues as a part of an overall examination of intercarrier 

compensation.11  Level 3 later withdrew its petition.  Nevertheless, as of today, the applicable law has 

                                                                                                                                                                
Rcd 15982, 16131-34, ¶¶ 341-48 (1997); see also, generally, In the Matter of Amendments of Part 69 of the 
Commission’s Rules Relating to Enhanced Service Providers, Order, 3 FCC Rcd 2631 (1988).  

8 See In the Matter of WATS-Related and Other Amendments of Part 69 of the Commission’s Rules, 
Memorandum Opinion and Order, 2 FCC Rcd 7424, 7425, ¶¶ 13-15 (1987).  

9 See In the Matter of Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions in the Telecommunications Act of 
1996, Intercarrier Compensation for ISP-Bound Traffic, Order on Remand and Report and Order, 16 FCC Rcd 9151, 
9163-81 ¶¶ 23-65, 9186-90, ¶¶ 77-84 (2001), remanded sub nom. WorldCom, Inc. v. FCC, 288 F.3d 429 (D.C. Cir. 
2002), reh’g, en banc, denied (D.C. Cir. Sept. 24, 2002), cert. denied, 538 U.S. 1012 (May 5, 2003).  

10 In the Matter of Petition of Level 3 Communications LLC for Forbearance under 47 U.S.C. Section 
160(c), WC Docket No. 03-266; In the Matter of IP-Enabled Services, WC Docket No. 04-36. 

11 In the Matter of Developing a Unified Intercarrier Compensation Regime, Further Notice of Proposed 
Rulemaking, 20 FCC Rcd 4685 (rel. Mar. 3, 2005) (“Further Notice”). 
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not changed.  The ISP’s Server should be considered a retail location for the purposes of appropriate 

number assignment and determining intercarrier compensation.12 

27. Level 3 has attempted to ignore this regulatory history by charging Qwest at the ISP 

Remand Order rate for VNXX traffic.  Level 3 has argued that the FCC’s ISP Remand Order and a 

recent FCC decision related to a forbearance petition by Core Communications fundamentally 

change this analysis.13  Level 3 argues that all traffic bound for the Internet must be treated as 

subject to the FCC ISP Remand Order $.0007 per minute rate, regardless of whether such traffic 

originated from next door, across the state, or even across the country.  Its position is simply 

wrong, and is in violation of the FCC’s rules (i.e., the FCC ESP Exemption rule).   

28. In fact, if Level 3 delivered traffic to its ISP customers’ server located in the same local 

calling area as where the calls originated, Level 3 would be correct that under existing rules, the call 

would be treated as subject to the FCC $0.0007 per minute rate.14  However, Level 3’s ISP customers’ 

equipment is not located in the same local calling area as that of many of the Qwest customers that call 

Level 3’s ISP customers.  Thus, Level 3 seeks to collect compensation to which it is not entitled.15 

29. Level 3’s approach ignores long-standing FCC precedent, as well as recent 

Commission and Oregon court decisions on these issues.  In describing ISP-bound traffic in the 

                                                 
12 For a more detailed analysis of these legal issues, see the Ex Parte that Qwest filed with the FCC on 

March 11, 2005 in Level 3’s forbearance petition proceeding, which is attached as Exhibit C to the Complaint. 
13 See Petition of Core Communications for Forbearance under 47 USC § 160(c) from the Application of the 

ISP Remand Order, Order FCC 04-241, WC Docket No. 03-171 (rel. October 18, 2004) (“Core Forbearance 
Order”). 

14 Such a change would still require an ICA amendment. 
15 Based on Qwest’s December 2004 CroSS7 reports, Level 3 in Oregon sent no minutes of use (MOUs) to 

Qwest that month.  Of the 138,418,557 MOUs that Qwest sent to Level 3 in December 2004, 70,627,161 were VNXX 
minutes, or approximately 51% of Level 3’s total MOUs.  Level 3 has a switch in San Francisco that supports LIS 
trunks in the 670 LATA, and it uses a Portland switch to support LIS trunks in the 672 LATA.  Many of the cities and 
towns in the 672 LATA, however, are not within the Portland metro local calling area. 

Further, for the first four months of 2005, Qwest has identified 275,851,823 VNXX MOUs in Oregon.  This 
amounts to approximately $193,096.28 of charges at the ISP Remand Order $0.0007 rate.  On an annual basis, the 
amount for VNXX MOUs would be approximately $580,000.   
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background section of the order, the FCC states that “an ISP’s end-user customers typically access 

the Internet through an ISP Server located in the same local calling area,” and that the end users 

pay the local exchange carrier for connections to the “local ISP.”  ISP Remand Order, ¶ 10.  The 

FCC defines ISPs as “one set of enhanced service providers.”  Id., ¶ 11.  (Emphasis added.)  The 

FCC specifically identified the issue that it was addressing as “whether reciprocal compensation 

obligations apply to the delivery of calls from one LEC’s end-user customer to an ISP in the same 

local calling area that is served by a competing LEC.”  Id., ¶ 13.  (Emphasis added.)  Thus, in 

examining ISP traffic, the ISP Remand Order did not address the situation where a CLEC’s ISP 

server is located outside of the local calling area of both its assigned telephone number(s) and the 

originating caller. 

30. Similarly, the Core Forbearance Order dealt with the application of the ISP 

Remand Order.  It addressed whether certain provisions in the ISP Remand Order should continue 

to apply to CLECs serving ISPs.  Because the ISP Remand Order did not address the treatment of 

calls from one local calling area to an ISP with equipment in another local calling area, the Core 

Forbearance Order did not address the issue either. 

31. Qwest’s position of the FCC’s actions gains support from the appeal of the ISP 

Remand Order.  WorldCom, Inc. v. FCC, 288 F.3d 429 (D.C. Cir. 2002), reh’g en banc denied 

(D.C. Cir., Sept. 24, 2002), cert. denied, 538 U.S. 1012 (May 5, 2003).  In WorldCom, the court 

unequivocally stated that the FCC’s ISP Remand Order dealt with calls made to ISPs located 

within the same local calling area as the originating caller.  WorldCom, 288 F.3d at 430.  Thus, 

there is a lack of support for the interpretation that Level 3 advocates that the FCC, in the ISP 

Remand Order, somehow summarily changed the long history of determining the appropriate 

treatment of traffic bound for enhanced service providers. 

 



13 

State Authority  

32. The jurisdictional question regarding intercarrier calls has been an issue, and has 

been resolved, in several proceedings in Oregon.   

33. First, the Commission last year issued its Order No. 04-504 in docket UM 1058, 

which was its investigation of VNXX calling patterns in Oregon.  In that order, the Commission 

ruled that a CLEC engaging in VNXX traffic would be violating two of the standard conditions in 

their certificates of authority (pertaining to local exchange boundaries and EAS routes to distinguish 

between local and toll services, and limiting NXX codes to a single local exchange or rate center).  

34. Specifically, the Commission ruled in Order No. 04-504: 

A plain reading of these conditions leads to the conclusion that any carrier engaging 
in the conduct described by OTA in its Petition [i.e., VNXX traffic] would clearly be in 
violation of its certificate.  Order No. 04-504, p. 5.  (Emphasis added.)16   

 
See also ORS 759.005(2)(c) (defining “local exchange telecommunications service” as 

“telecommunications service provided within the boundaries of exchange maps filed with and 

approved by the commission”); OAR 860-032-0001 (referring to the statutory definition of “local 

exchange telecommunications service”).  (Emphasis added.)  The Commission also ruled that “the 

most appropriate means for dealing with allegations relating to such activity would be in the 

context of a complaint or a petition for arbitration.”  Order No. 04-504, p. 5.  (Emphasis added.)  

35. Further, prior to Order No. 04-504, the Commission had adopted the Arbitrator’s 

Decision in the AT&T/Qwest arbitration (docket ARB 527), in which the Arbitrator had refused to 

                                                 
16 The two standard conditions (nos. 7 and 8) that the Commission mentioned are as follows: 

7.  For purposes of distinguishing between local and toll calling, applicant shall adhere to local exchange 
boundaries and Extended Area Service (EAS) routes established by the Commission.  Further, applicant shall 
not establish an EAS route from a given local exchange beyond the EAS area for that exchange. 

8.  When applicant is assigned one or more NXX codes, applicant shall limit each of its NXX codes to a 
single local exchange or rate center, whichever is larger, and shall establish a toll rate center in each 
exchange or rate center proximate to that established by the telecommunications utility or cooperative 
corporation serving the exchange or rate center.  Order No. 04-504, p. 5.  (Emphasis added.)  
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alter the definition of “local exchange service” (i.e., traffic that originates and terminates within the 

same Commission-determined local calling area) by rejecting AT&T’s request that the Commission 

exempt VNXX traffic from these requirements.  See Arbitrator’s Decision, docket ARB 527 (April 19, 

2004), pp. 6-7; see also Order No. 04-272 (Commission order adopting Arbitrator’s Decision).  The 

same definition has been part of the Qwest/Level 3 interconnection agreement since October 2001.17 

36. Finally, a recent decision by a federal court in Oregon confirmed the Commission’s 

previous decision in Order No. 04-504 that VNXX traffic is, by definition, not “local traffic.”  In 

Qwest Corporation v. Universal Telecom, Inc., United States District Court, District of Oregon, Case 

No. 6:04-CV-6047-AA, the court expressly agreed with Qwest that no reciprocal compensation is due 

for VNXX traffic because VNXX traffic is not local traffic.    

37. Specifically, the court in Universal recognized that the definition of “local traffic” in 

the ICA was the definition which was listed in Qwest’s Oregon tariff at the time the ICA became 

effective (just as it is here).  The court then concluded: “VNXX traffic does not meet the definition of 

local traffic because it does not originate and terminate in the same LCAs [local calling areas] and 

EASs [Extended Area Service areas].”  Opinion and Order, p. 24.  (Emphasis added.)  The court 

further rejected Universal’s argument that the Commission’s MFS decision in 1996 applied to VNXX 

traffic.  Id., pp. 25-26.  Finally, the court in Universal ruled that the Commission’s recent decision in 

docket UM 1058 (Order No. 04-504) “len[t] further support to [its] conclusion” that VNXX traffic is 

not local traffic.  Id., p. 26, fn. 4.18 

                                                 
17 Section 4.23 provides: “‘Exchange Service’ or ‘Extended Area Service (EAS)/Local Traffic’ means traffic 

that is originated and terminated within the local calling area which has been defined by the Commission and 
documented in applicable tariffs.” 

18 Finally, Qwest also notes that, although it dealt with the relative use calculation for trunking and facilities 
and not reciprocal compensation for ISP traffic or VNXX traffic, this Commission has previously ruled, in the 
arbitration proceeding between Level 3 and Qwest themselves that led to the ICA between them (docket ARB 332), that 
“‘Internet related traffic should be excluded when determining relative use of the entrance facilities and direct trunk 
transport.’”  See Order No. 01-809, pp. 3-5, adopting Arbitrator’s Decision, pp. 5-9.  The Commission ruled that it was 
the FCC’s interpretation of section 251 in its ISP Remand Order that set forth the policies that the Arbitrator applied in 
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38. As such, the Commission and the only Oregon federal court addressing the issue have 

ruled that VNXX traffic is not “local” traffic, and it is irrelevant that such non-local traffic may also 

happen to carry ISP-bound traffic.  Oregon law could not be more clear on this issue.  Although Level 

3 will undoubtedly attempt to distinguish this precedent (such as, for example, by arguing that this 

traffic is bound for the Internet, and thus that it is somehow exempt from these Oregon definitions), 

the fact is that Oregon law makes no such distinction.  Nor has the FCC made such a distinction.  If 

VNXX traffic is allowed to flow between carriers, it should not be routed over LIS facilities, and thus 

should not be treated as “local” traffic under the parties’ ICA.  

Treatment of ISP Bound Traffic under the ICA 

39. Further still, Level 3’s conduct violates the parties’ ICA.  The ICA itself does not 

specifically define “ISP bound traffic.”  It does provide, however, that “[t]erms not otherwise 

defined here but defined in the Act shall have the meaning defined there.”  (Ex. A, ICA, § 4.70.)  

The ICA defines “Act” as “the Communications Act of 1934 (47 U.S.C. 151, et. seq.), as amended 

by the Telecommunications Act of 1996, and as from time to time interpreted in the duly authorized 

rules and regulations of the FCC or the Oregon Public Utility Commission.”  (Id., § 4.3.) 

                                                                                                                                                                
the case, and it quoted from the Arbitrator’s Decision discussion of the arbitrage possibilities regarding the allocation of 
ILEC facilities’ costs on the basis of relative use for ISP traffic.  Order No. 01-809, p. 4.  The Arbitrator 
(Administrative Law Judge Allan Arlow) had found that it is the FCC’s interpretation of sections 251(b)(5) and 251(g) 
that largely governed the result reached on this issue.  Arbitrator’s Decision, p. 7.  The Arbitrator went on to quote from 
the FCC’s ISP Remand Order (paragraphs 21 and 23), in which the FCC discussed the distortions of traditional traffic 
assumptions, regulatory arbitrage and uneconomic results as a result of Internet usage, and concluded that ISP-bound 
traffic is not subject to reciprocal compensation.  Id., pp. 7-8.  Thus, the Arbitrator concluded that the language that 
Qwest had proffered most closely reflected “the policies of both the FCC and the Commission by removing the 
incentives for uneconomic behavior in the provision of telecommunications services to Internet Service Providers.”  Id., 
p. 9.   

Level 3 then sought judicial review of Order No. 01-809, but the federal court affirmed the order.  Specifically, 
the court discussed the relative use of ISP traffic on the facilities at issue, and “who pays for it,” and stated as follows: 

But, there is a catch.  Most of Level 3’s customers are Internet Service Providers (ISPs), which act as 
gateways to the Internet.  ISPs receive vast quantities of incoming local calls from persons trying to access 
the Internet, but ISPs make few (if any) outgoing local calls.  As a result, telephone traffic flows almost 
exclusively one-way.  Qwest customers are expected to place many calls to Level 3 customers, but very little 
traffic will flow in the opposite direction.  If the cost of the equipment at issue is allocated based on the 
relative percentage of calls originated on each network, then Qwest will have to pay virtually the entire cost.  
Opinion and Order, p. 6. 
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40. Level 3, however, seeks to sweep aside these definitions by assuming that traffic 

bound for the Internet automatically falls within the definition of ISP-bound traffic, regardless of 

where the traffic originates and terminates.  Indeed, Level 3 ignores the FCC history of defining 

ISP-bound traffic as traffic that travels solely within a local calling area prior to being delivered to 

the ISP Server.  Level 3 also ignores long-standing industry practice of treating calls dialed as 1+ 

calls to the Internet as being toll calls.  Level 3 then hides this practice by improperly assigning 

local numbers (through its VNXX schemes). 

VNXX Traffic over LIS Trunks 

41. Level 3 has argued in other jurisdictions that the parties have agreed to exchange 

VNXX traffic over LIS Trunks.  Qwest disagrees with these arguments.  Section 7.2.1.2 of the 

parties’ ICA specifically delineates the types of traffic that are to be exchanged under the ICA.  (See 

Ex. A, § 7.2.1.2.)  With respect to the traffic and disputes at issue in this matter, there are three 

relevant types of traffic which are appropriately exchanged under the agreement and under the 

parties’ SPOP amendment to the ICA: (1) Exchange Access Service (intraLATA Toll, non IXC) 

traffic, (2) Jointly Provided Switched Access (interLATA and intraLATA IXC) traffic and (3) 

Exchange Service or EAS/Local Traffic.  (SPOP Amendment, Attachment 1, § 1.1, attached as 

Exhibit D.)19 

42. The ICA defines those categories of traffic as follows: 

• “Exchange Access (IntraLATA Toll)” is defined in accordance with Qwest’s current 
IntraLATA toll serving areas, as determined by Qwest’s state and interstate Tariffs and 
excludes toll provided using Switched Access purchased by an IXC.  (ICA, Ex. A, § 4.34.) 

 
• “Switched Access Service” means the offering of transmission and switching services to 

Interexchange Carriers for the purpose of the origination or termination of telephone toll 
service.  Switched Access Services include:  Feature Group A, Feature Group B, Feature 
Group D, 8XX access, and 900 access and their successors or similar Switched Access 

                                                 
19 The parties entered into the SPOP Amendment in June 2002 and Qwest filed it with the Commission on July 

18, 2002.  The Commission approved the amendment on September 5, 2002 in Order No. 02-619 in docket ARB 332. 
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Services.  (Id., § 4.62.) 
 

• “Exchange Service” or “Extended Area Service (EAS)/Local Traffic” means traffic that is 
originated and terminated within the local calling area which has been defined by the 
Commission and documented in applicable tariffs.  (Id. § 4.23 (emphasis added).)  
 
43. As stated, “ISP-bound traffic” is not defined in the ICA.  The ICA, however, 

provides that “[t]erms not otherwise defined here but defined in the Act shall have the meaning 

defined there.”  (Ex. A, ICA, § 4.70.)  As already discussed above, Level 3’s contention that the 

traffic at issue is entitled to treatment and compensation according to the ISP Remand Order 

traffic is incorrect and not an appropriate reading of that order, and is in violation of the 

Commission findings in Order No. 04-504 docket UM 1058.   

44. It is possible that Level 3 may claim, as some other carriers have attempted to 

claim, that this traffic is “Exchange Service” traffic, commonly referred to as “EAS/Local traffic.”  

This traffic is defined in section 4.23 of the ICA as “traffic that is originated and terminated within 

the local calling area which has been defined by the Commission and documented in applicable 

tariffs.”  (See Ex. A, § 4.23.)  Even a cursory examination of the traffic at issue, however, shows 

that it does not meet this definition.  See also ORS 759.005(2)(c); OAR 860-032-0001.  Level 3 

acknowledges that it forces Qwest to exchange traffic that is not terminated at the ISP Server in 

the same local calling area as the originating caller (identical to VNXX traffic), but Level 3 has 

nevertheless claimed that it is ISP-bound traffic.  Thus, there should be no contention as to 

whether the VNXX traffic at issue is “Exchange Service” traffic. 

45. A traffic type that may superficially appear to functionally apply to the VNXX 

traffic at issue is under the definition of “Exchange Access” traffic, which is defined in section 

4.34 of Level 3’s ICA as being “in accordance with Qwest’s current IntraLATA toll serving areas, 

as determined by Qwest’s state and interstate tariffs and excludes toll provided using Switched 
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Access purchased by an IXC.”  (See Ex. A, § 4.34.)  While this may appear functionally 

appropriate, upon closer examination the traffic does not meet this definition either. 

46. As a threshold matter, only Level 3 knows the exact location of the end-user ISP 

Server or modem bank for this traffic.  Thus, Qwest cannot completely determine for any given 

call whether the call is bound for a location within the LATA or in a different LATA.  Qwest only 

knows how far it carried the call before handoff to the interconnected carrier, where that carrier’s 

serving switch is located, and whether traffic is one-way or two-way.  In addition, even for that 

traffic which functionally does appear to match the definition, Level 3’s purposeful misuse of 

telephone numbers makes it difficult to track this traffic.  Level 3 clearly does not intend for the 

traffic to be treated as “Exchange Access” traffic under the ICA, as evidenced by its misuse of 

telephone numbers.  Thus, it is apparent this definition does not match the traffic either.   

47. Finally, the last possible traffic type, “Jointly Provided Switched Access” traffic (or 

“Meet-Point Billing” traffic), does not match up at all to the VNXX traffic at issue either.  This is so 

because no IXC is involved, as only Level 3 and Qwest are involved in the carriage of the traffic, 

which is contrary to the definition of the traffic in section 4.43 of the ICA.  (See Ex., § 4.43.) 

48. Therefore, in reviewing the plain language of the ICA and the VNXX traffic that 

Level 3 causes Qwest to exchange, none of the traffic types that the parties specifically agreed to 

exchange match this VNXX traffic.  Since Level 3 can easily remedy the situation by properly 

assigning telephone numbers based on the actual location of its end-user customers, it is 

incumbent upon Level 3 to ensure that the exchange of traffic under the agreement follows the 

terms and conditions of the agreement.  In the end, Level 3 is simply attempting to exchange 

traffic that the parties never agreed to exchange under the terms of the ICA. 
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CLAIMS 

49. Qwest brings this Complaint against Level 3 as a result of Level 3’s violation of 

federal law, violations of state law, and breach of the terms and conditions of the parties’ 

interconnection agreement.  This Complaint consists of five counts, as follows: 

COUNT 1 (Violation of Federal Law) 

50. Qwest has set forth the applicable federal law regarding calls made to the Internet. 

51. Level 3’s assignment of local telephone numbers and NPA/NXXs in local calling areas 

other than the local calling area where ISP Server is located, its misuse of such telephone numbering 

resources, and its subsequent attempts to bill Qwest the ISP Remand Order rate for such VNXX 

traffic, are violations of federal law.  The Commission should order Level 3 to cease assigning NPA-

NXXs in local calling areas other than the local calling area where ISP Server is located, and cease 

charging Qwest for such traffic, and further, should require that Level 3 properly assign telephone 

numbers based on the actual physical location of its end-user or terminating customer. 

COUNT 2 (Violation of State Law) 

52. Qwest has set forth the applicable state law regarding calls made to the Internet and 

calls using VNXX traffic, including the Commission’s recent orders in dockets UM 1058, ARB 537 

and ARB 332, and a recent federal court decision on VNXX traffic. 

53. Level 3’s assignment of local telephone numbers and NPA/NXXs in local calling areas 

other than the local calling area where ISP Server is located, its misuse of such telephone numbering 

resources, and its subsequent attempts to bill Qwest the ISP Remand Order rate for such VNXX 

traffic, are violations of Oregon law.  The Commission should order Level 3 to cease assigning NPA-

NXXs in local calling areas other than the local calling area where ISP Server is located, and cease 

charging Qwest for such traffic, and further, should require that Level 3 properly assign telephone 

numbers based on the actual physical location of its end-user or terminating customer. 
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COUNT 3 (Violation of the Change in Law Provisions of the ICA) 

54. Level 3 has sent or will bill Qwest approximately $693,013.45 from December 

2004 (based on November 2004 MOUs) through May 2005, based on the FCC’s Core 

Forbearance Order decision.  Of this amount, Qwest believes that approximately $351,436.86 is 

from VNXX traffic.   

55. The parties have not reached agreement on an ICA amendment pursuant to that order.  

Specifically, Qwest has proposed an amendment to comply with the order, but Level 3 has rejected it. 

56. Pursuant to Section 2.2 of the ICA, Level 3 is required to bring this dispute to this 

Commission to resolve the dispute in appropriate language: 

.  . . . To the extent that the Existing [laws] are changed, vacated, dismissed, stayed or 
modified, then this Agreement and all contracts adopting all or part of this Agreement shall 
be amended to reflect such modification or change of the Existing Rules.  Where the 
Parties fail to agree upon such an amendment within sixty (60) days from the effective date 
of the modification or change of the Existing Rules, it shall be resolved in accordance with 
the Dispute Resolution provision of this Agreement…  (Ex. A, ICA, § 2.2.) 

 
Level 3, however, has attempted to subvert this process by instead billing Qwest for traffic that 

Qwest contends is not covered by the Core Forbearance Order. 

57. Level 3’s actions amount to a willful and intentional violation of its obligations 

under Section 2.2.  The Commission should issue an order finding Level 3 in breach of its 

contractual obligations, in violation of the findings in the Commission Order in Order No. 04-504 

in docket UM 1058, and further, should invalidate Level 3’s bills.  

COUNT 4 (Violation of Section 13.4 of the ICA) 

58. Level 3 is assigning local numbers to ISP Servers located outside the local area to 

which the number is assigned.  Level 3 is acting willfully and intentionally. 

59. Section 13.4 of the ICA provides that “[e]ach Party is responsible for administering 

the NXX codes assigned to it.”  (Ex. A, ICA, § 13.4.)  Further, it requires that each party “shall  
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provide . . . all required information regarding its network for maintaining the LERG in a timely 

manner.”  (Id.)  Through its actions described above, Level 3 is knowingly and intentionally 

violating these obligations.  This Commission should issue an order finding Level 3 in breach of 

its contractual obligations and further, should invalidate Level 3’s bills.    

COUNT 5 (Improper Routing of Traffic over LIS Trunks) 

60. Section 1.1 of Attachment A of the SPOP Amendment authorizes the parties to 

exchange the following categories of traffic over LIS Trunks: (1) Exchange Access Service traffic 

(intraLATA Toll, non IXC), (2) Jointly Provided Switched Access (interLATA and intraLATA IXC) 

traffic and (3) Exchange Service EAS Local Traffic.  (Ex. D, SPOP Amendment, Attachment A, § 1.1.)  

61. The ICA defines those categories of traffic as follows: 

• “Exchange Access (IntraLATA Toll)” is defined in accordance with the Act and Qwest’s 
current intraLATA toll serving areas, as determined by Qwest’s state and interstate tariffs and 
excludes toll provided using Switched Access purchased by an IXC.  (Ex. A, ICA, § 4.34.) “ 

 
• “Switched Access Service” means the offering of transmission and switching services to 

Interexchange Carriers for the purpose of the origination or termination of telephone toll 
service.  Switched Access Services include:  Feature Group A, Feature Group B, Feature 
Group D, 8XX access, and 900 access and their successors or similar Switched Access 
services.  (Id., § 4.62.) 

 
• “Exchange Service” or “Extended Area Service (EAS)/Local Traffic” means traffic that is 

originated and terminated within the local calling area which has been defined by the 
Commission and documented in applicable tariffs.  (Id., § 4.23.) 

 
62. “ISP-bound traffic” is not defined in the ICA.  The ICA, however, provides that 

“[t]erms not otherwise defined here but defined in the Act shall have the meaning defined there.”  

(Ex. A, ICA, § 4.70.)  VNXX traffic, even if it is ISP bound, fits in none of these categories. 

63. Accordingly, Level 3 is willfully and intentionally violating its ICA and 

Commission directives related to VNXX traffic by attempting to obligate Qwest to send non-local 

ISP traffic over LIS trunks.  The Commission should order Qwest to cease routing VNXX traffic 

over LIS trunks to Level 3, and further, should invalidate Level 3’s bills to Qwest. 
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RELIEF REQUESTED 

64. WHEREFORE, Qwest respectfully requests that the Commission provide the 

following relief: 

a. Issue an order (1) prohibiting Level 3 from assigning NPA-NXXs in local 

calling areas other than the local calling area where the ISP Server is located, (2) requiring that 

Level 3 cease its misuse of such telephone numbering resources, and (3) requiring that Level 3 

properly assign telephone numbers based on the location of the ISP Server;  

b. Issue an order that the parties’ ICA does not require any compensation for 

Level 3’s VNXX traffic;  

c. Direct Level 3 to follow the change of law procedures contained in its 

interconnection agreement with Qwest to implement the Core Forbearance Order; 

d. Invalidate all Level 3 bills to Qwest seeking or charging reciprocal 

compensation or the ISP Remand Order rate of $.0007 per minute for any of the VNXX traffic 

described above;  

e. Issue an order prohibiting Qwest from routing VNXX traffic to Level 3 

utilizing LIS facilities; and  

f. Any and all other equitable relief that the Commission deems appropriate.    



23 

REQUEST FOR HEARING 

65. Finally, Qwest believes that based on the claims it has raised, there are likely to be 

various factual issues in dispute, and thus an evidentiary hearing may be necessary.  Accordingly, 

to the extent there are factual issues in dispute, Qwest respectfully requests an evidentiary hearing 

of this matter. 

DATED:  June 6, 2005       Respectfully submitted,  

       
  
Alex M. Duarte, OSB No. 02045 
Qwest  
421 SW Oak Street, Suite 810 
Portland, Oregon 97204 
(503) 242-5623 
(503) 242-8589 (facsimile) 
Alex.Duarte@qwest.com  
 
Jeffrey T. Nodland  
Qwest  
1801 California Street, 10th Floor 
Denver, Colorado 80202 
(303) 383-6657 
(303) 295-6973 (facsimile) 
Jeff.Nodland@qwest.com  ] 

Attorneys for Qwest Corporation 
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BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF OREGON 

 

QWEST CORPORATION,  

Complainant, 

v. 

Level 3 Communications, LLC, 

Defendant.    

 
DOCKET IC ____ 
 
QWEST CORPORATION’S 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY IN SUPPORT 
OF COMPLAINT FOR ENFORCEMENT 
OF INTERCONNECTION AGREEMENT 

 
Pursuant to OAR 860-014-0050(2)(g), Complainant Qwest Corporation (“Qwest”) hereby 

submits its Executive Summary and Outline of Issues and Relief Requested in support of its 

complaint for enforcement of interconnection agreement filed herewith (“Complaint”). 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 

This Complaint presents an important issue to this Commission.  In fact, it is one that the 

Commission is familiar with and has previously addressed in Order No. 04-504 in docket UM 

1058.  Indeed, for the reasons set forth in Qwest’s Complaint, Qwest will show that Level 3 is in 

violation of that order in the manner in which it is operating in Oregon today. 

When a person places a long distance call to a computer (or Internet Service Provider (ISP) 

server (hereafter “ISP Server”)), may the carrier connecting the call to the computer treat the call 

according to the ISP Remand Order for compensation and access charge purposes?  The answer is 

clearly no.  However, Level 3 claims that a call to an ISP Server, at least when the ISP Server is 

used to connect to the Internet, is, according to the ISP Remand Order, to be treated under the 

process described in that Order, no matter where the ISP Server is located.  This Level 3 position, 

as well as its billing to Qwest for such calls, is what necessitates this complaint by Qwest. 

Level 3’s position is that the called ISP Server could be located in San Francisco, Seattle, or 

Honolulu, and all calls to the ISP Server (and through the ISP Server to the Internet) would be 
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treated for compensation purposes precisely in the same fashion as if both the caller and the ISP 

Server were located in Portland.  This is clearly not the law, and the Federal Communications 

Commission (“FCC”) has made it clear for more than 20 years that a call to a computer (including a 

call to an ISP Server used to provide information or enhanced services) is to be rated based on the 

location of the ISP Server itself, and not the location of any further end point with which the ISP 

Server may communicate, or to which the computer may direct the call.  Level 3’s argument is that 

the FCC somehow accidentally reversed this consistent precedent, and thus that the FCC has ruled 

that all calls to ISP Servers are to be treated according to the scheme in the ISP Remand Order, no 

matter where the ISP Server is located.   

This issue is important to Level 3 because, if its position were to be accepted, Level 3 would 

be able to reap significant financial advantages at the expense of Qwest and the public.  Not only 

would customers calling Level 3’s ISP avoid paying toll charges for such calls, but also Qwest would 

be required (after an amendment to the parties’ interconnection agreement) to compensate Level 3 for 

“terminating” the calls at the FCC’s prescribed local ISP traffic rate of $0.0007 per minute. 

Level 3’s position is directly contrary to FCC precedent, which requires that a computer 

(such as an ISP Server) be treated exactly the same as other end-user customers in determining 

whether a call to the computer is treated as a toll call or a local call.  This is the basis for the so-

called “ESP Exemption,” which requires exactly that. 

The federal ESP Exemption prevents a LEC from charging switched access charges for a 

call made to a local computer on the basis that the computer ultimately directs the call to an end 

point (e.g., another computer) or to another station located in another state.  This is part of the 

same rule that held that calls to or from local Private Branch Exchanges (“PBXs”) would not be 

required to pay switched access charges, even if the calls were connected to another line and 

ultimately transferred to a distant location.  The ESP Exemption never said, explicitly or implicitly, 
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that calls to or from computers (or PBXs) were “local calls,” no matter where the computers (or 

PBXs) were located.  Level 3, however, attempts to argue that the FCC, without analysis or even 

intent, has accidentally changed the entire landscape of access charges, and thus issued a blanket 

exemption for all calls to and from all computers, no matter where located (as long as they send 

the call to the Internet).  Nothing supports Level 3’s position that the FCC has made such a major 

policy shift.   

Level 3 also ignores Oregon statutes and this Commission’s rulings in the virtual NXX 

number (“VNXX”) proceeding (docket UM 1058) and in the AT&T arbitration proceeding (docket 

ARB 527) dealing with VNXX assignment, as well as a recent federal court decision on this issue.  

As this Commission knows, VNXX is a vehicle by which a carrier obtains a number for one local 

calling area, and assigns that number to serve a customer physically located in another geographic 

area.  In the UM 1058 proceeding, however, this Commission determined in Order No. 04-504 that 

a CLEC engaging in VNXX traffic would be violating two of the standard conditions in their 

certificates of authority.  This Commission also ruled in Order No. 04-272 in docket ARB 527 (the 

AT&T/Qwest arbitration) that the definition of local exchange service would remain traffic that 

originates and terminates within the same Commission-determined local calling area (thus 

rejecting AT&T’s request that the Commission exempt VNXX traffic from these requirements).  

Finally, a federal court in Oregon recently concluded that the Commission’s previous decision in 

Order No. 04-504 ruled that VNXX traffic is, by definition, not “local traffic,” by expressly 

agreeing with Qwest that no reciprocal compensation was due for VNXX traffic because VNXX 

traffic is not local traffic.  Accordingly, a CLEC’s VNXX offerings that do not provide for toll 

payments, or an appropriate substitute, are improper under Oregon law.   

Level 3 also simply ignores the plain language of the parties’ interconnection agreement 

(“ICA”) regarding the types of traffic that the parties have agreed to exchange.  The traffic types 
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that the parties have agreed to exchange over the local interconnection trunks and through the ICA 

Single Point of Presence (“SPOP”) amendment is very specifically delineated in the ICA.  As is 

discussed below, the traffic that Qwest complains about does not match the traffic types that the 

parties agreed to exchange under the ICA.  Due to Level 3’s purposeful misuse and improper 

assignment of telephone numbers, the traffic that Level 3 expects Qwest to exchange does not 

match any of the specifically defined traffic types, and therefore, is not traffic that the parties have 

agreed to exchange under the ICA.  The solution to this dispute is quite simple; if Level 3 assigns 

telephone numbers based on the actual physical location of the ISP Server, then the traffic will be 

properly routed consistent with the definitions in the ICA.   

In sum, this complaint represents an important issue from a policy and financial 

perspective.  Ultimately, this Commission should rule in favor of Qwest and thus determine that 

Level 3 is not entitled to unilaterally change the ICA.  The Commission should further rule that 

Level 3 is not entitled to fundamentally shift the toll compensation structure in this state as a 

matter of federal and state law, as well as a matter of sound policy.  

ISSUES AND RELIEF REQUESTED FOR EACH ISSUE 

Issue 

Whether Level 3’s assignment of local telephone numbers and NPA/NXXs in local calling 

areas other than the local calling area where ISP Server is located, its misuse of such telephone 

numbering resources, and its subsequent attempts to bill Qwest the ISP Remand Order rate for 

such VNXX traffic, are violations of federal law? 

Relief Requested  

Qwest believes that the answer to this question is yes.  Thus, Qwest respectfully submits 

that the Commission should order Level 3 to cease assigning NPA-NXXs in local calling areas 

other than the local calling area where ISP Server is located, and cease charging Qwest for such 
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traffic, and further, should require that Level 3 properly assign telephone numbers based on the 

actual physical location of its end-user or terminating customer. 

 

Issue 

Whether Level 3’s assignment of local telephone numbers and NPA/NXXs in local calling 

areas other than the local calling area where ISP Server is located, its misuse of such telephone 

numbering resources, and its subsequent attempts to bill Qwest the ISP Remand Order rate for such 

VNXX traffic, are violations of Oregon law? 

Relief Requested 

Qwest believes that the answer to this question is yes.  Thus, Qwest respectfully submits that 

the Commission should order Level 3 to cease assigning NPA-NXXs in local calling areas other 

than the local calling area where ISP Server is located, and cease charging Qwest for such traffic, 

and further, should require that Level 3 properly assign telephone numbers based on the actual 

physical location of its end-user or terminating customer. 

 

Issue 

Whether Level 3’s actions described above and in the Complaint amount to a willful and 

intentional violation of its obligations under Section 2.2 of its interconnection agreement with 

Qwest? 

Relief Requested 

Qwest believes that the answer to this question is yes.  Thus, Qwest respectfully submits that 

the Commission should issue an order finding Level 3 in breach of its contractual obligations, in 

violation of the findings in the Commission Order in docket UM1058, and should invalidate Level 

3’s bills for the traffic at issue in this Complaint.  
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Issue 

Whether, by Level 3’s actions described above and in the Complaint, Level 3 is knowingly 

and intentionally violating its obligations under section 13.4 of its interconnection agreement with 

Qwest? 

Relief Requested  

Qwest believes that the answer to this question is yes.  Thus, Qwest respectfully submits that 

the Commission should issue an order finding Level 3 in breach of its contractual obligations under 

section 13.4 of its interconnection agreement with Qwest, and thus should invalidate Level 3’s bills.  

 

Issue 

Whether, by Level 3’s actions described above and in the Complaint, Level 3 is willfully 

and intentionally violating its interconnection agreement and Commission directives related to 

VNXX traffic by attempting to obligate Qwest to send non-local ISP traffic over LIS Trunks?   

Relief Requested  
 

Qwest believes that the answer to this question is yes.  Thus, Qwest respectfully submits 

that the Commission should order Qwest to cease routing VNXX traffic over LIS trunks to Level 

3, and should invalidate Level 3’s bills to Qwest. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Qwest respectfully requests the Commission provide the following relief: 

1. Issue an order (a) prohibiting Level 3 from assigning NPA-NXXs in local calling 

areas other than the local calling area where the ISP Server is located, (b) requiring that Level 3 

cease its misuse of such telephone numbering resources, and (c) requiring that Level 3 properly 

assign telephone numbers based on the location of the ISP Server;  
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2. Issue an order that the parties’ ICA does not require any compensation for Level 3’s 

VNXX traffic;  

3. Direct Level 3 to follow the change of law procedures contained in its 

interconnection agreement with Qwest to implement the Core Forbearance Order; 

4. Invalidate all Level 3 bills to Qwest seeking or charging reciprocal compensation or 

the ISP Remand Order rate of $.0007 per minute for any of the VNXX traffic described above;  

5. Issue an order prohibiting Qwest from routing VNXX traffic to Level 3 utilizing 

LIS facilities; and  

6. Any and all other equitable relief that the Commission deems appropriate.     

DATED:  June 6, 2005       Respectfully submitted,  

       
  
Alex M. Duarte, OSB No. 02045 
Qwest  
421 SW Oak Street, Suite 810 
Portland, Oregon 97204 
(503) 242-5623 
(503) 242-8589 (facsimile) 
Alex.Duarte@qwest.com  
 
Jeffrey T. Nodland  
Qwest  
1801 California Street, 10th Floor 
Denver, Colorado 80202 
(303) 383-6657 
(303) 295-6973 (facsimile) 
Jeff.Nodland@qwest.com  ] 
  
Attorneys for Qwest Corporation 
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CORPORATION’S COMPLAINT FOR ENFORCEMENT OF INTERCONNECTION 
AGREEMENT in the above entitled docket on the following persons via U.S. Mail, by 
mailing a correct copy to them in a sealed envelope, with postage prepaid, addressed to them 
at their regular office address shown below, and deposited in the U.S. post office at Portland, 
Oregon. 
 
 
Erik Cecil 
Rick Thayer 
Level 3 Communications, LLC 
1025 Eldorado Blvd. 
Broomfield, CO  80021 

Roger DuCloo 
Level 3 Communications, LLC 
1025 Eldorado Blvd. 
Broomfield, CO  80021 

 
 
 

 
 DATED this 6th day of June, 2005. 
 
 QWEST CORPORATION 

                                                                         
By: ________________________________ 

 ALEX M. DUARTE, OSB No. 02045 
 421 SW Oak Street, Suite 810 
 Portland, OR  97204 
 Telephone: 503-242-5623 
 Facsimile: 503-242-8589 
 e-mail: alex.duarte@qwest.com 
 Attorney for Qwest Corporation 
 


